### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 73,911

FILED /

OCT 6 1939

By Dople Con

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0353973 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By Indictment, the State alleged that:

"Ulrick Omelus, on or between October 15, 1986 and October 31, 1986, in The County of Brevard, and State of Florida, did then and there aid, abet, counsel, hire or otherwise procure another, JOHN HENRY JONES, to commit a criminal offense against the State of Florida, to-wit: FIRST DEGREE MURDER FROM A PREMEDITATED DESIGN, to unlawfully kill a human being, WILLIE MITCHELL, by STABBING WILLIE MITCHELL WITH A KNIFE OR OTHER SHARP INSTRUMENT, and said killing was perpetrated by said JOHN HENRY JONES, from a premeditated design or intent to effect the death of said WILLIE MITCHELL, contrary to Sections 777.011 and 782.04(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes [.]

(R1937). Private counsel (Mr. Robert G. Udell, Esq.) was appointed to represent Mr. Omelus because the Office of the Public Defender was representing an essential state witness (Gerald Crayton).

(R1945-47)

The first trial, held in July, 1988, ended with a hung Thereafter, the trial judge (Honorable Lawrence V. jury. (R2078) Johnston, III) was recused because, "before the existence of aggravating or mitigating circumstances was even mentioned to Judge Lawrence V. Johnston he made the announcement in his courtroom that regardless of the jury's recommendation as to the death penalty he would not sentence the defendant to death in this cause." (R2085,2095) The case was re-assigned to the Honorable John Dean Moxley (R2098), and tried again in October, 1988. Defense counsel obtained a pre-trial ruling forbidding the state from mentioning an Indian River County murder until the relevance of that murder, in reference to the Brevard County murder for which the defendant was on trial, was shown. (R37-39) Two motions for mistrial followed, one during opening statement when the prosecutor mentioned facts concerning the Indian River County murder (R590-92), and another when the state questioned its key witness (John Henry Jones), who committed both the Brevard County and the Indian River County murders. (R840-41) Both motions for mistrial were denied. (R592,919)

At the conclusion of the state's case defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal, arguing that the state had failed to prove that Omelus had hired Jones to murder Willie Mitchell with a knife, as had specifically been alleged in the Indictment. (R1547-50) The motion was denied. (R1550) The defense rested without presenting any evidence and renewed the motion for judgment of acquittal. (R1557) The trial judge again denied the motion, this time explaining his reasoning. (R1557)

There were no objections to the jury instructions, either as proposed during the charge conference (R1562) or as given. (R1712) During closing argument, both sides argued to the jury that, although jury instructions would be given concerning lesser included offenses, such a verdict would be a compromise, and that the verdict should either be quilty of first-degree murder or not guilty. (R1568-69, 1712) Deliberation began at 12:46 P.M. on October 19, 1988 and a guilty verdict was returned (after overnight sequestration) at 8:57 P.M. on October 20, 1989. (R1725) The court received several communications from the jury (R2560-67); one requesting further instructions was resolved in open court in the presence of the defendant and counsel. (R1718-The jury foreman stated that the jury was "particularly interested" in obtaining a transcript of the testimony of John Henry Jones, but was told by the trial judge without objection that unless the request could be narrowed, it would be impossible to provide the jury with a copy of Jones' testimony. (R1722-23)

The penalty phase occurred a month later on November 17, 1988. Omelus, in writing, waived the statutory mitigating circumstance of no significant history of prior criminal activity. (R2135-36) Defense counsel moved to strike as an aggravating factor Section 921.141(5)(h) (especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder) on the basis of Maynard v. Cartwright 486 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 108 S.Ct 1853 (1989). (R1753,2051) The court ruled, "I'm going to take care of Maynard. I'm going to [define] H, C and A at Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, and that will take care of the Maynard problem." (R1754) The court continued:

I'm not going to, quote, D.V. on any aggravating circumstance. is if you cannot agree which do and do not apply, then the Court is authorized to instruct upon all of them. The legal sufficiency is going to be by virtue of the sentencing order of this Court, should there be one necessary. And I'm looking at Cooper so I can give an instruction which passes muster under Because they didn't actually, Maynard. they did not adequately in Oklahoma identify what that circumstance means. Okay?

(R1754-55) (emphasis added) Defense counsel moved to add separate instructions identifying as non-statutory mitigating factors being a model prisoner and having potential for rehabilitation. (R2051) These requested instructions were denied. (R1808-10) Thereafter, the state presented the testimony of a single witness, that being the medical examiner who performed the autopsy of Willie Mitchell. (R1770-1819) After testifying in sordid detail concerning the extent of Mitchell's injuries, the medical examiner admitted during cross-examination that Mitchell would not have lived for more than two or three minutes from the time the attack commenced, and that during a portion of that time Mitchell would have been unconscious. (R1818) Several additional photographs showing the injuries to the victim were introduced into evidence and published to the jury. (R1771,1790-1807,1814).

Omelus testified in his own behalf and presented the testimony of five witnesses. Deputy Sweazy testified that Omelus has always conducted himself as a model prisoner. (R1831-33)

Corporal Williams from the Brevard County Sheriff's Office testified that while Omelus was in the sheriff's custody only one trivial administrative action was taken against Omelus for giving

a cigarette to a juvenile inmate. (R1823-27) Three friends described Omelus as a religious, loving father who was a good provider for his family. (R1834-44) Omelus described his impoverished childhood in Haiti (R1860) and his trip to America in an open boat with 209 other Haitians. (R1862-68)

The jury was instructed on three aggravating factors, to wit: especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder, murder for pecuniary gain, and a cold, calculated and premeditated murder with no pretense of legal or moral justification. (R1920-22,2568-2572) The death penalty was recommended by an 8-4 margin. (R1929-31,2143) The trial judge followed the recommendation, finding two statutory aggravating factors (murder for pecuniary gain and a cold, calculated and premeditated murder with no pretense of moral or legal justification) and one non-statutory mitigating factor (the actual killer received a life-sentence). (R2196-2202; Appendix A) The court did not consider Omelus' potential for rehabilitation; conduct as a model prisoner; conduct as a good father and family provider; or his impoverished childhood in Haiti. On March 16, 1989 Omelus was adjudicated guilty of first-degree murder and sentenced to death. (2203-05,2770-71) A timely notice of appeal was filed that same day (R2184) and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Omelus for this appeal. (R2187) This brief follows.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

John Henry Jones is six foot three inches tall; he weighs 220 pounds. (R1003) He is a self-admitted cocaine addict (R1061), having used crack cocaine every day for three years. (R1093) Around 7:00 P.M. on October 31, 1986, (Friday), Jones reported that he had found a body approximately 210 feet east of the FEC railroad in a bushy area behind the ABC Lounge in Cocoa. (R620-22,625-29,666)

Deputy Tamillo of the Brevard County Sheriff's Office responded around 7:30 P.M. (R620-22) and found the body of a black male, five feet eight inches tall, weighing approximatley 148 pounds. (R663-64) The body was determined to be that of Willie Mitchell. (R649,674-77) Police found only coins and an old arrest form in Mitchell's pockets; there were no items of real value. (R656,674,676,814-18, State's Exhibit 36) was cold and stiff when the police arrived; many flies were around the head of the victim. (R672) The police photographer saw insect larvae around Mitchell's eyes. (R818) Mitchell had apparently been assaulted roughly 20 feet from where the body was Mitchell's shoes had been placed neatly next lying. (R650-53) to his body. (R769,797-98) The body could not be seen from the path where the attack occurred. (R660)

The Medical Examiner arrived at the scene and noted that Mitchell's body was lying face down amid shrubs and high weeds; blood was on the body and multiple stab wounds were visible on the neck and thorax area. (R709-12) An autopsy performed the next morning revealed that Mitchell died from

multiple stab wounds, primarily in the chest and neck area, both front and back. (R714) There were at least nineteen wounds consistent with having been inflicted by a single-edged knife. (R715-18) Several wounds had been inflicted after death. (R723) Mitchell displayed defensive wounds to the hands and wrists. (R727-28) A toxicology report revealed the presence of cocaine and marijuana in Mitchell's blood. (R734)

The doctor noted several potentially fatal wounds to the lungs and chest cavity (R722), and reasoned that the attack probably lasted no longer than four minutes. (R753) The first stab wound described by the doctor was the immediate cause of death. It entered the right side of Mitchell's neck in the anterior compartment of the neck, crossed over to the midline of the neck and went through the neck into the vascular compartment on the opposite side of the neck; it was "obviously a very lethal type of wound." (R722) That wound may have been the first wound inflicted. (R732) The Medical Examiner was unable to determine the time of death to any degree of medical certainty. (R735-40) The presence of maggots during the autopsy was inconsistent with the premise that Mitchell was alive at four o'clock on the morning of October 31; it commonly takes 24 hours for maggots to appear. (R758,776)

On November 6, 1986 Deputy Leatherow met with and obtained a taped statement from an insurance salesman (Hagerman) who claimed that Omelus had recently assisted Mitchell obtain an insurance policy, and had attempted to recover benefits after finding out that Mitchell had been killed. (R680-83,780,2648-65)

Omelus had purchased a fifty thousand dollar life insurance policy on himself on July 1, 1986. (R2648-49) On July 14, Omelus purchased a health insurance policy for himself and his child. (R2650) On August 15th Omelus brought in a friend (Wilson Francois) to obtain life insurance in the sum of fifty thousand dollars; Francois' wife was the beneficiary. (R2651,2647)

Omelus next met Hagerman on October 4, 1986. (R2652) Omelus was accompanied by a Haitian male identified as Willie Mitchell, Omelus' cousin (R2653), who lived with Omelus. (R1289) Mitchell's English was very broken. Omelus interpreted as he had with Francois, and for \$75.00 Mitchell obtained a fifty thousand dollar life insurance policy effective immediately. (R2653) October 29, 1986 Omelus brought in two Haitian women (Juliette Loriston and Pauline Hipolette) so they could obtain insurance. The women had to borrow \$15 from Hagerman in order to to purchase the insurance. (R2654) Hagerman stated that Omelus brought him the \$15 the next day, which would have been Thursday, October 30, 1986. (R2654-55) Hagerman stated that Omelus came back around 5:00 P.M. that same day (October 30) to ask if Willie Mitchell had health insurance, because he had heard that Mitchell had been cut up pretty badly in a knife fight and that Mitchell needed the money to pay for hospital bills. (R2656) Hagerman told Omelus that Mitchell had life insurance, not health insurance. (R2657) Omelus left.

Hagerman next saw Omelus on November 5, 1986 when Omelus told Hagerman that Mitchell had died from the incident in North Gifford. (R2657-58) Hagerman became suspicious and called

the police after Omelus left. (R2659-61) Hagerman initially called the police in Vero Beach to verify that Mitchell had been killed there as represented by Omelus and was told no one by that name had been killed. (R1417) Thereafter, Brevard County deputies called Hagerman and informed him that Mitchell had died in Cocoa Beach and they were interested in talking to him. (R1417) Hagerman gave the police a taped statement and told them that, when Mitchell obtained insurance, he had to refer to a 3 x 5 card containing a social security number and date of birth (R1417-18, 2664).

In early December, Deputy Leatherow met with Gerald Crayton, who was facing charges for possession and sale of cocaine. Crayton wanted to deal and told police that Jones (the person who reported Mitchell's body) was the murderer; he agreed to meet with Jones while under electronic surveillance and try to learn who had hired Jones to kill Mitchell. (R684-87,1225-26)

Two such meetings occurred, both during trips in Crayton's 1985

Cadillac as they drove from Cocoa in Brevard County to the Wabasso area in Indian River County to obtain cocaine. (R685-90)

Both taped conversations, in edited form, were introduced into evidence over hearsay objection. (R2539-2548; 2549-2558) The first trip occurred December 16, 1986; the second on January 14, 1987. (R1027,1040) At the end of the second trip, Crayton's vehicle was stopped and Jones was arrested for the murder of Willie Mitchell. (R688-90)

On January 16, 1989 Omelus voluntarily came into the police department to talk with the officers when he heard that

they were looking for him. (R694-95,1241-43,1291) In a taped statement that was introduced into evidence over objection, Omelus denied any involvement in the murder and stated that he did not know John Henry Jones. (R792,2826-2832) Omelus gave the police two telephone numbers where he might be reached. (R787) The first number was to a telephone booth; the second number was to a residence rented by several Haitian residents. (R796) The phone number to the Haitian residence and the name "John" appear on a paper found in John Henry Jones' wallet. (R1329)

John Henry Jones murdered Willie Mitchell. (R831) has been convicted and sentenced for that murder. (R831) claims that a person named "John", who he identified as Omelus, hired him to commit the murder. (R831-32) Jones claims that he met with Omelus "between from one to about four times". (R835) Jones first met Omelus when Jones was remodeling Bernard Knight's house in Cocoa Beach in June-July of 1986. (R833) Jones claims that Omelus brought some cocaine to Bernard Knight, who was not home at the time, and that Jones spent approximately 45 minutes talking to Omelus. (R833-34) Jones stated that when he first met Omelus, Omelus did not bring up the subject of having Jones do something for him, but instead brought it up in the second meeting. (R835-36) The second meeting occurred approximately a week after the first meeting. (R836-37) "He [Omelus] asked me would I, do I know, do I know anybody would collect money or help him out about getting some money back from some people owe him." (R837) Jones explained that the money was owed Omelus for cocaine. (R837) Jones told Omelus that he would check around and

see. (R837) About a week and a half later, Jones saw Omelus and told him that he could not find anyone, but that he (Jones) would take the job. (R839) At trial Jones testified that he understood that the collection was to use threat or force to require the payment of funds. (R839) At the next meeting, the job description changed; [By Jones] "This conversation at that time, he didn't -he wanted him dead, he didn't want him -- 'cause they been cheating him and he didn't want him to owe him. That's the way he wanted me to solve the murder -- solve the payment, by murder and then he went on again, someone who had took -- who had took some insurance policies out on him and they made, this is what he told me, they made -- what is the victim's name?" [By prosecutor] "Willie Mitchell" [By Jones] "All right, he made him sign some kind of insurance policy." (R840) Jones agreed to commit the murder, though he did not know who the victim was to be because that had not yet been specified. (R841)

According to Jones, on the last Friday in August Jones and Omelus went to Burnett Road in West Cocoa to see Crayton to obtain a "weapon". 2/ (R973-75) After obtaining the weapon, Jones and the defendant went to Wabasso and spent the night in apartment 9 of a motel a few thousand feet off U.S. 1. (R975-76) Jones left Wabasso the next day. (R976) Jones and Omelus maintained a relationship after the August incident and later discussed

<sup>2/</sup> This testimony refers to the murder of Dessama Cherry in Indian River County by Jones, which was accomplished with a .45 caliber pistol Jones obtained from Crayton. The pistol was returned to Crayton before the murder of Mitchell. At the judge's direction, the term "weapon" was substituted for the word pistol or knife. (R947-49) There was no objection.

committing the murder of Willie Mitchell. However, prior to
October 30th, Omelus never revealed the name of the person whom
he wished killed. (R977) Jones claimed that Omelus "said
(Mitchell) had ripped him off of some cocaine, he owed him for
cocaine and he, that's the only way he probably can get his
money, about killing him because -- he was telling me about they
had, someone else had insurance on him and that's the way they're
going to get their money out of it." (R977)

Jones testified that he did other favors for Omelus.

Jones was paid between two and five hundred dollars to keep
Omelus' automobile. (R978) Jones claimed that Omelus wished to
have people believe the car had been seized by police. (R978-86)
Jones stated that he and Omelus drove to a service station a
little way from Palm Bay and made a phone call. "He told him the
police was after him and he was halfway to, on U.S. 1, halfway to
Wabasso and for somebody to come and pick him up because the
police was after him. And I think the scam was he was taking the
cocaine from the people he was delivering for because then he
wouldn't have to pay if he said the police had his car, I think
that's what it was about." (R981)

Jones stated that Omelus gave him forty dollars and said that he'd come back and would pay him for keeping the car. (R981) Jones claimed that Omelus came to see him twice while Jones had possession of Omelus' car (R982), once when Omelus brought a copper box full of change to be used to put gas in the car, and a second time when Omelus was brought by Jones' nephew to an auto repair shop to meet Jones. (R982)

According to Jones, on October 30, 1986 Omelus returned to Cocoa to get his car. (R986-87) Jones was at the body shop when Omelus arrived. (R987-88) The body shop was about three blocks from Jones' nephew's house. (R988) Jones and the defendant walked an eighth mile to Omelus' car, which Jones had parked in a downtown Cocoa Village parking lot. (R988-89) They returned to Jones' nephew's house and got out of the car. (R989) Omelus gave Jones some checks that he wanted disposed to Jones, who tore them up and threw them in a dumpster. (R989-90) Jones observed that the phone number on the checks matched the one that had previously been given him by Omelus, but Jones did not recall the name (Omelus) that was on the checks; he could only tell the police that the person who hired him was named "John". (R990-91)

According to Jones, after Jones threw the checks in the dumpster, he and Omelus drove to Gifford in Indian River County.

(R992) On the way they stopped at an abandoned building/wash house that had people standing out front. Jones knew none of them. Omelus called to one person who came and got in the back seat of the car. They drove off. (R993) Jones described the man as small and dark skinned. (R994) The group travelled on U.S. 1 toward Cocoa, but stopped at a 7-11 convenience store; Jones was given twenty dollars by Omelus to buy beer. (R994) When Omelus went inside the 7-11 to make a telephone call, he indicated to Jones that the person in the back of the car was the one he wished to have the job done on. "He told me that's the fellow he was talking about and that's the one he wanted me to do the job on. I was handing the money and he told me to keep it." (R995)

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