IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ULRECK OMELUS,

v.

Appellant,

JAN 18 1050 \

CASE NO.

Donal State

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross Appellant.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar # 411590 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4996

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for judgment of acquittal where the evidence presented was sufficient to prove Omelus hired, aided, abetted and procured John Henry Jones to murder Willie Mitchell. The fact that Omelus may not have known which weapon was to be used in the murder does not render the indictment deficient. The indictment advised Omelus of the charges pending against him.

POINT II: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a mistrial motion based on prosecutorial misconduct regarding a comment made in opening statement and a question asked a state witness. The comment and question were equivocal and not an intentional breach of the trial court's ruling. Error, if any, was harmless.

POINT III: The instruction the trial court gave on heinous, atrocious or cruel, is not unconstitutionally vague. Whether the trial court erred in instructing on the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious, and cruel was not preserved for review. The instruction was appropriate and supported by the evidence. The judge is the ultimate sentencing authority. The fact that the judge rejected an aggravating factor did not prejudice Omelus. Any error in instructing the jury on a factor which was ultimately rejected is harmless.

POINT IV: The trial court did not err in rejecting Omelus' proposed jury instruction listing certain non-statutory The standard jury instructions correctly mitigating factors. the jury of the governing penalty phase apprise law deliberations.

<u>POINT V:</u> The standard jury instruction that the aggravating factors must outweigh the mitigating factors does not improperly shift the burden to a defendant. The standard jury instruction has been repeatedly upheld.

<u>POINT VI:</u> Omelus' constitutional attack on the death penalty was not preserved for review, and there had been no showing of fundamental error.

<u>POINT VII:</u> The trial court did not abuse its discretion in restricting cross-examination of state witnesses where the testimony was either collateral, irrelevant, or had previously been asked and answered.

POINT VIII: The trial court properly applied Florida's capital sentencing statute in considering the non-statutory mitigating factors presented by Omelus. After considering the aggravating and mitigating factors, the trial court correctly determined that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, and was committed for pecuniary gain. The trial court found that the two statutory factors outweighed the mitigating factor: that the co-defendant received sentence. The death penalty as applied to Omelus proportionate. Whether the prosecutor made improper remarks in sentencing was not preserved for review, nor were the comments improper or prejudicial.

POINT XI: Omelus' challenge to appellate review procedures applied by this court in death cases has not been preserved for review and is, in any event, without merit.

POINT X: The issue whether certain exhibits which pertained to another murder case were viewed by the jury is not properly before this court. Omelus has not demonstrated that the jury was actually exposed to any evidence which was not properly introduced.

POINTS I, 1V, AND V ON CROSS APPEAL: The trial court should have allowed testimony regarding a similar murder which Omelus hired Jones to do eight weeks weeks before this murder. The facts were similar, and relevant to prove plan, motive, preparation, identity, and relationship between Jones and Omelus. Even if the entire testimony were not allowed, the limited testimony regarding Omelus hiring Jones to do several murders, and the limited testimony regarding obtaining a gun should have been allowed.

POINT II ON CROSS APPEAL: The trial court should have applied the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious, or cruel to this murder. The circumstances surrounding the murder support this finding, and Omelus is responsible for the acts of Jones.

POINT III ON CROSS APPEAL: The trial court should not have granted Omelus' request for a jury instruction advising the jury that if there were no parole function, Omelus would not be eligible for parole in twenty-five years, but would be sentenced to life. Recent case law holds that parole is still viable for capital felons.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE INDICTMENT WAS SUFFICIENTLY SPECIFIC TO ADVISE OMELUS OF THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM, AND THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED OMELUS' MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL.

After the state rested, Omelus moved for a judgment of acquittal on one ground as follows:

The allegation which the state has to prove is that which is alleged in the And if you look in document. they allege that Indictment, between October 19, 1986, and October 31, 1986, in the County of Brevard Mr. Omelus did then and there aid, procure counsel, hire or otherwise another, John Henry Jones, to commit a criminal offense against the State of Florida, to wit: first degree murder from a premeditated design to unlawfully kill a human being, Willie Mitchell.

Here's the other language. Goes on to say "by stabbing Willie Mitchell with a knife or other sharp instrument."

I think if you look at the evidence it's quite clear that at no time did Mr. Omelus ever ask Mr.(sic), ever aid, procure, hire or abet Mr. Jones to kill Mr. Mitchell by stabbing him with a sharp instrument.

I don't have any specific case law to cite for the Court, but I believe the law in the State of Florida is when the State of Florida makes an allegation in the Indictment, that's the document that it intends to rely on to charge a Defendant with an offense. And it alleges an event occurred in a specific matter, i.e., Mr. Omelus hired Mr. Jones to stab Mr. Mitchell to death. They're required to prove that.

The evidence is quite clear at no time did Mr. Omelus ever talk to Mr. Jones

about killing Willie Mitchell with a knife or a sharp instrument and stabbing him to death (R1549-1550).

The defense rested without presenting evidence or testimony, and the motion for judgment of acquittal was renewed on the grounds previously stated (R1557).

Omelus argues that since the state charged Omelus with hiring Mr. Jones to commit a criminal offense, to-wit: first degree murder of Willie Mitchell by stabbing him with a knife or other sharp instrument, the state must prove that Omelus knew Mr. Jones would use a knife in the murder. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.140(0) provides that an indictment shall not be dismissed on account of any defect in the form of the indictment unless the court shall be of the opinion that the indictment is so vague, indistinct and indefinite as to mislead the accused and embarrass him in the preparation of his defense or expose him after conviction or acquittal to substantial danger of a new prosecution for the same Omelus never argued that he was prejudiced in any way, offense. or that he was mislead or embarrassed in the preparation of his Although he argues on appeal that the state preserved the right to retry him in a way other than by stabbing, this The issue is not preserved for issue was not raised below. review. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

Omelus did not make a pre-trial motion to dismiss the indictment. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(b) provides:

All defenses available to a defendant by plea, other than not guilty, shall be made only by motion to dismiss the indictment or information whether the same shall relate to matters of form,

substance, former acquittal, former jeopardy, or any other defense.

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(c) requires that a motion to dismiss the indictment be made before or upon arraignment unless the court permits the defendant to file the motion at a time set by the court. Rule 3.190(c) also provides that if a motion to dismiss is not presented within the time limits imposed, it is waived unless the objection is fundamental.

In <u>Jones v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 852, 853 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), the court held that "where the information is merely imperfect or imprecise, the failure to timely file a motion to dismiss under Rule 3.190(c) waives the defect and it cannot be raised for the first time on appeal". In <u>Asmer v. State</u>, 416 So.2d 485,487 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), the court held:

Rule 3.190(b) Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure requires all defenses other than that of not guilty to be made only by motion to dismiss the information. Failure to so raise the defense waives defect, unless the information wholly fails to charge a crime, Tracey v. State, 130 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1961), State v. Taylor, 283 So.2d 882 (Fla. 4th DCA Failure to allege one ingredient 1973). an offense does not necessarily render the charge void as a wholly failing to state a crime, State v. Taylor, supra, particularly where the information the specific section of the prosecution under which the statute proceeds. Haselden v. State, 386 So.2d 623 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), Kiddy v. State, 378

Should this issue or any others be found to be procedurally barred, it is respectfully requested that the opinion of this court contain a plain statement to that effect in order to avoid potential relitigation of the issues(s) in federal collateral proceedings. See, Harris v. Reed, ____ U.S. ___, 109 S.Ct. 1038, 1032 L.Ed.2d 308 (1989).

So.2d 1332 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), Bass v. State, 263 So.2d 611 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972).

The principles reviewed herein have enjoyed long standing and consistent application by the courts of this State. A defendant may not thwart the ends of justice by sitting on a technical defect which has occasioned him no prejudice, holding it in reserve as a trap to spring on the State in the event the jury renders an adverse verdict.

A substantive defect in an indictment or information may be waived unless challenged timely by a motion to dismiss. v. Florida, 417 So.2d 1006, 1009 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). In Tucker, the appellate court certified the question whether failure to specify venue was so fundamental it could be reviewed on appeal, even though not properly presented to the trial court, where the defendant was not hindered in the preparation or presentation of This court answered the question in the negative his defense. after reviewing existing caselaw. Tucker v. State, 459 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1984). This court held that failure to allege venue was an error of form, not of substance, and the defect would not render the charging instrument void absent a showing of prejudice to the The alleged defect in the present case is merely one defendant. of form, and Omelus was not prejudiced in any way by the wording of the indictment.

Addressing the merits, there was no variance between the allegation and the proof at trial. The allegation was that Omelus hired Jones to murder Willie Mitchell, which was proved at trial. Omelus suggests that because the state added the language "by stabbing Willie Mitchell with a knife", the state then had to

prove that Omelus knew the weapon to be used and had to specifically hire Jones to kill Mitchell with a knife. This is a question of semantics, and Omelus attempts to elevate form over substance. The fact remains that Omelus was not misled in the preparation of his defense, or subjected to the possibility of reprosecution for the same offense, nor has Omelus alleged same. Any minor semantical defect is immaterial. See Grissom v. State, 405 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); Marshall v. State, 381 So.2d 276 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Sharp v. State, 328 So.2d 503 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

The state proved that Omelus hired Jones to murder Mitchell and that the murder was committed by stabbing with a knife. There was sufficient evidence that Omelus hired Jones to kill Mitchell to submit the case to the jury. Omelus was on notice of the elements of the offense. Proof of knowledge of the exact instrument to be used in the murder is not an element of principal to first degree murder. § 782.04 Fla. Stat. (1987), § 777.011, Fla. Stat. (1987).

The cases cited by Omelus are distinguishable because in those cases the state failed to prove what was charged. In Booker v. State, 93 Fla. 211, 111 So.476 (1927), the indictment alleged that the defendant broke and entered a smokehouse; however, the state presented no evidence to prove that building or a fowlhouse was entered by a breaking. The court observed that although the state may have been able to prove entry without breaking into the fowlhouse, there was not sufficient evidence to prove breaking and entering into the smokehouse as charged.

Unlike <u>Booker</u>, the state in this case charged murder of Willie Mitchell by Jones with a knife, which was proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

Omelus also cites Barker v. State 78 Fla. 477, 83 So. 287, In Barker, the court found that the instrument offered into evidence in a forgery case was "materially and essentially" different from the instrument set out indictment. In Ankiel v. State, 479 So.2d 263 (Fla. 5th DCA 1975), the information charged trafficking in more than 400 grams of cocaine, but the evidence only supported a conviction of possession of more than 200 grams. In Jones v. State, 325 So.2d (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), the defendant was charged with possessing a pistol, but the evidence was insufficient to prove conscious and substantial possession. In Jiminez v. State, 231 So.2d 26 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970), the state charged the defendant with possession of heroin, but the evidence showed the substance was morphine. In the present case, the state proved exactly what was charged: that Omelus hired Jones to murder Willie Mitchell, and the murder was accomplished with a knife.

The trial court should not grant a motion for judgment of acquittal unless the evidence is such that no view which the jury might lawfully take favorable to the opposite party can be sustained under the law. Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984); Lynch v. State, 293 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1974). When the defendant moves for judgment of acquittal, he admits all facts in evidence as well as all inferences from that evidence favorable to the state. Busch v. State, 466 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 3rd DCA

1984). The motion for judgment of acquittal was properly denied because any defect in the information was minimal and error, if any, was harmless. Omelus' rights were not substantially affected, and this court cannot presume his rights were injured. § 924.33, Fla. Stat. (1987). By not moving timely to dismiss the information, the objection was waived.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE DISCRETION IN DENYING OMELUS' MOTIONS MISTRIAL WHERE THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENT AND QUESTION WERE INOFFENSIVE AND HARMLESS.

A motion for mistrial should be granted only in cases of absolute necessity and where the error asserted is so egregious as to vitiate the entire trial. Cobb v. State, 376 So.2d 230, 232 (Fla. 1979), State v. Murray, 443, So.2d 955 (1984). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial. Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986); Salvatore v. State, 366 So.2d 745, 750 (Fla. 1979).

Omelus complains of two instances in which the he says the prosecutor alluded to evidence concerning another murder in which Omelus allegedly was involved. The first instance was during opening statement where the prosecutor talked about Omelus and Jones going to Wabasso to purchase a gun, after which Omelus showed Jones the man he wanted killed (R589). Omelus moved for mistrial (R 589). He did not Object to the statement for a curative instruction. This error was waived. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982).

Viewed in context of the evidence presented, the jury would not have known there was a second murder unless they had prior knowledge and could distinguish minor factual variations in the two murders. In both murders, Omelus drove Jones to the murder site and in both murders, a weapon was sought beforehand. As the judge observed, the statement was neutral, and he denied the motion for mistrial (R592). Omelus now argues that the trial

court did not appreciate that the prosecutor was talking about the other murder because he was unfamiliar with the evidence (Initial brief at 35). Yet Omelus would have this court believe that the jury would appreciate this comment as alluding to the other murder in Indian River when they had absolutely no knowledge of that murder. The facts of this case show that Omelus and Jones did pick Mitchell up in Gifford or Wabasso the night of the murder, and Omelus told Jones he was the victim (R 992). Jones had seen Crayton and Dugger to obtain a gun and had obtained a weapon (R 999-100). Error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)

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